
 

 

 

 THE CITY OF THE VILLAGE OF DOUGLAS  

 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

 MONDAY, DECEMBER 04, 2023 AT 7:00 PM  

 86 W CENTER ST., DOUGLAS MI  

AGENDA 
 

To attend remotely, please consider joining online or by phone. Join online by visiting: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/86099489332 

Join by phone by dialing: +1 (312) 626-6799 | Then enter “Meeting ID”: 860 9948 9332 

1. CALL TO ORDER: By Mayor 

2. ROLL CALL: By Clerk 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Led by Mayor 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. Approve the Council meeting agenda for December 4, 2023 

B. Approve the November 20, 2023 Council Meeting Minutes 

C. Approve the invoices in the amount of $53,709.11 

D. Meeting Schedule Holiday Date Changes -  
Wednesday, January 3, 2024, January 16, 2024, Tuesday, September 3, 2024 

Motion to approve the Consent Calendar of December 4, 2023 – roll call vote 

5. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - VERBAL (LIMIT OF 3 MINUTES) 

6. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - WRITTEN 

7. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

8. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Audit Presentation - Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 

B. Resolution No. 35-2023 - Water Rate Implementation 
 
Motion to approve Resolution No. 35-2023, approving the water capital charge to begin on the January 
2024 bill. - roll call vote 
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C. De minimis benefits policy 
 
Motion to approve the Di Minimis Benefits Policy. - roll call vote 

9. CLOSED SESSION 

A. Motion to enter into closed session per Sect: 8 (h) of the Open Meetings Act, to consider material 
exempt from discussion or disclosure by State and Federal Statute. - roll call vote 
 
Motion to exit from closed session, and enter back into the regular session of the City Council meeting 
agenda. - roll call vote 

10. REPORTS 

A. Commission/Committee/Boards 

1. Planning Commission 
2. Kalamazoo Lake Sewer Water 
3. Downtown Development Authority 
4. Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority 
5. Douglas Harbor Authority 
6. Douglas Brownfield Authority 
7. Fire Board 
8. Community Recreation 
9. Playground Committee 

B. Administration Reports 

11. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION – VERBAL (LIMIT OF 3 MINUTES) 

12. COUNCIL COMMENTS 

13. MAYOR’S REPORT/COMMENTS 

14. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion to adjourn the meeting. 

 

Please Note – The City of the Village of Douglas (the “City”) is subject to the requirements of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990. Individuals with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who require 
certain accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting, or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of this meeting or the facilities, are requested to contact Laura Kasper, City 
Clerk, at (269) 857-1438, or clerk@douglasmi.gov to allow the City to make reasonable accommodations for 
those persons. CITY OF THE VILLAGE OF DOUGLAS, ALLEGAN COUNTY, MICHIGAN 
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 THE CITY OF THE VILLAGE OF DOUGLAS  

 REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

 MONDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2023 AT 7:00 PM  

 86 W CENTER ST., DOUGLAS MI  

MINUTES 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER: By Councilmember Seabert 

2. ROLL CALL: By Clerk Kasper 

PRESENT 
Cathy North 
Jerome Donovan 
Neal Seabert 
John O'Malley 
Randy Walker 
Gregory Freeman 
Also Present – City Manager Nocerini 
Clerk Kasper 
 
ABSENT 
Fran Ray 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Led by Seabert 

4. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 

A. Election of Mayor – Cathy North, by unanimous ballot vote. 

B. Election of Mayor Pro-Tem – Randy Walker, by majority ballot vote 
Voting Walker – Freeman, Walker, O’Malley, North,  
Voting O’Malley – Donovan, Seabert 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 
A. Approve the Council Meeting Agenda for November 20, 2023 
B. Approve the November 6, 2023 Council Regular Meeting Minutes 
C. Approve invoices in the amount of $181,787.12 

 
Motion by Seabert, Second by Freeman, to approve the Consent Calendar of November 20, 2023 – Motion 
carried by unanimous roll call vote. 

6. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - VERBAL (LIMIT OF 3 MINUTES): Dick Waskin - feels the RPF process was unfair 
with Mick. Bruce Stewart – stated concerns with traffic safety at the Root Beer Barrel and revenue sharing 
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causing price increases. Scott Havermil – stated that the barrel is the only affordable lunch place in the area 
for families and wondered about any Councilmember benefiting. Trudy Engelbrecht – owner of Sisters in 
Ink and Mick is a large part of their revenue, and this happened before with rolling river which affected 
many people. Patsy Ramsay – would like Council to consider the Facebook comments when voting and 
should reconsider bidding process. Timothy Smith – would like Council to reconsider the BDR Westshore 
easement extension. Dan Urquhart – felt that the barrel and kayak do not make the City money, but are 
there to market the City. 

7. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION - WRITTEN 
A. Written Communication - Nicki Galas – recorded in packet 
B. Written Communication – Helen DeGetano – recorded in packet  

8. UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None 

9. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Root Beer Barrel RFP - Award of Management Contract – City Manager, Nocerini discussed the process 
of how a Request for Proposal works. The RFP was issued on September 21st, 2023, for the 
management of the Root Beer Barrel for three (3) years with two (2) optional one (1) year extensions 
available for the RFP that meets the requirements and is determined to be most advantageous to the 
community. Four (4) sealed proposals were received by the deadline of October 19th, 2023, and were 
reviewed by the City Council Building Committee. Two (2) of the proposals met all the requirements of 
the RFP and were interviewed in person by the Building Committee. The committee has selected 505 
Water St Café, LLC as their recommendation for the Root Beer Barrel Management contract, subject to 
City Council approval. Letters and emails were sent on Monday, November 13, 2023, to the applicants 
who were not chosen, thanking them for their submissions. 
Todd Martinson, Douglas resident and the owner of 505 Water St Café, LLC was present and answered 
questions from the Councilmembers. 
 
Motion by Donovan, second by Seabert, to approve the award of the Root Beer Barrel Management 
Contract to 505 Water St Café, LLC, as recommended by the City Building Committee. – Motion carried 
by unanimous roll call vote. 

B. Special Event - DES PTO Color Run 
 
Motion by Freeman, second by Seabert, to approve the special event request for the Douglas 
Elementary School PTO Color Run, to be held at Schultz Park on May 10, 2024. – Motion carried by 
unanimous roll call vote. 

C. Resolution 33-2023 - Appoint City Manger as Street Administrator 
 
Motion by Seabert, second by Freeman, to adopt Resolution 33-2023, appointing the City Manager as 
Street Administrator. – Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote. 

D. Westshore PUD Easements – Under the advisement of the City Attorney’s office, the City Council is 
being asked to approve City execution of Westshore open space easements; extend to December 1, 
2023, the deadline for recordation of Westshore PUD open space easements; and acknowledge that 
BDR may request future Westshore PUD amendments/condominium site plan approvals 
notwithstanding BDR not having recorded Westshore PUD open space easements by November 7, 
2023. David Keast joined remotely and answered Councilmember questions. 
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Motion by Seabert, second by Donovan, to extend the deadline of the Westshore easement 
agreement to December 1, 2023. Motion carried by unanimous roll call vote. 

10. REPORTS 

A. Commission/Committee/Boards 

1. Planning Commission – Next meeting is the second Thursday in December. 
2. Kalamazoo Lake Sewer Water – Dan Urquhart gave updates on maintenance and various repairs 
involving the electrical outage. 
3. Downtown Development Authority – Upcoming tree lighting event on the 25th. 
4. Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority – No meeting 
5. Douglas Harbor Authority – No meeting 
6. Douglas Brownfield Authority – Workshop prior with Council on 200 Blue Star progress and 
concepts. 
7. Fire Board – Met prior, will update at the next Council meeting. 
8. Community Recreation – No meeting 
9. Playground Committee – No meeting 

B. Administration Reports – City Manager Nocerini discussed the leaf pickup complaints. She stated that 
there will be significant changes to the 2024 schedule, but as of now must adhere to the schedule and 
approved budget that was set prior to her time, and contractors that work with the City are done. 
Director of Public Works, Rick Zoet addressed the Council and discussed the process of the set 
schedule and the relation to their equipment and adjusting the cleanup processes.  

11. PUBLIC COMMUNICATION – VERBAL (LIMIT OF 3 MINUTES): Dana White – spoke about Code Enforcement 
talking to him about his leaves. Mr. White stated that he doesn’t plan on picking them up either, but the 
City should. Laura Petersen – stated looking forward to the lessons learned from confusion with the leaf 
pickup. Thomas Krakowski – stated that the leaf pickup needs to be extended. Rene Miller – Congratulated 
Mayor North and spoke to the collective voice of neighbors to echo support of the barrel but has concerns 
with Ferry Street and Blue Star traffic. 

12. COUNCIL COMMENTS: Donovan congratulated Mayor North. Freeman congratulated Mayor North. Seabert 
thanked City Manager Nocerini for her work cleaning up the burrito and had concerns about the amount of 
out of jurisdiction calls for the police. Walker thanked the DPW for all their hard work, and thanked 
Donovan for his leadership. She also stated that some of the language being used on social media was 
awful and nobody in our community deserves that. O’Malley agreed with Walker. He mentioned that he 
has lived here for over 30 years and is on Council to work with the community and get things done.  

13. MAYOR’S REPORT/COMMENTS: Mayor North thanked Rick Zoet for speaking, thanked the DDA for helping 
with the Wayfinding signs, welcomed Todd Martinson to the barrel, thanked Donovan for his past 
leadership and wished everyone a happy Thanksgiving. 

14. ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Motion by Seabert, second by Freeman, to adjourn the meeting. 
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Approved on this 4th day of December 2023  

 

 

Signed: ____________________________________   Date: _______ 

                     Cathy North, Mayor 

 

Signed: _____________________________________  Date: _______ 

                    Laura Kasper, City Clerk  

 

 

Certification of Minutes 

I hereby certify that the attached is a true and correct copy of the minutes of a regular meeting of the City 
Council of the City of the Village of Douglas held on November 20, 2023, I further certify that the meeting 
was duly called and that a quorum was present. 

 

Signed: ________________________________   Date: _______ 

                   Laura Kasper, City Clerk 
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11/29/2023                          INVOICE REGISTER REPORT FOR CITY OF THE VILLAGE OF DOUGLAS                                     
                                            EXP CHECK RUN DATES 12/04/2023 - 12/04/2023                                            
                                                BOTH JOURNALIZED AND UNJOURNALIZED                                                 
                                                        BOTH OPEN AND PAID                                                         

Inv Num    Vendor Inv Date Due Date Inv Amt
Inv Ref#   Description Entered By

GL Distribution
OCT 23
47231 ALLEGAN COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPT. 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 190.00

DEBT CREW
101-463.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 190.00

11-16-23
47186 ROBIN LYNN BELL 11/16/2023 12/04/2023 140.00

CLEANING SERVICES
101-265.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 100.00
101-301.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 40.00

2368
47226 BILLS TREE SERVICE 11/22/2023 12/04/2023 2,450.00

REMOVE DEAD MAPLE BY SHERWOOD FOREST
101-463.000-802.010               CONTRACTUAL FORESTRY 2,450.00

2369
47232 BILLS TREE SERVICE 11/22/2023 12/04/2023 2,600.00

TREE REMOVAL 501 CENTER
101-463.000-802.010               CONTRACTUAL FORESTRY 2,600.00

12-1-23
47210 CITY OF DOUGLAS TREASURER 12/01/2023 12/04/2023 9,158.95

415 WILEY TAX BILL
470-265.000-974.000               CONSTRUCTION 9,158.95

11-15-23
47203 COMCAST 11/15/2023 12/04/2023 214.70

POLICE OFFICE
101-301.000-851.000               TELEPHONE 214.70

205546704100
47204 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 130.23

415 WILEY #100
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 130.23

205724673565
47205 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 70.87

250 WILEY SCHULTZ PARK RAMP
213-753.000-922.000               UTILITIES 70.87

203588966355
47206 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 64.20

177 WASHINGTON - POINT PLEASANT
594-597.000-922.000               UTILITIES 64.20

205546704101
47207 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 37.79

415 WILEY UNIT 108
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 37.79

205012792952
47208 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 35.99

PRIDE GARDEN
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101-751.000-922.000               UTILITIES 35.99
203588966354
47209 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 35.88

201 WASHINGTON - POINT PLEASANT DOCKS
594-597.000-922.000               UTILITIES 35.88

206881084704
47253 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 521.94

37 WASHINGTON - BEERY FIELD RESTROOMS
101-751.000-922.000               UTILITIES 521.94

206881084703
47254 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 223.28

DPW
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 223.28

202076132413
47255 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 181.24

POLICE
101-301.000-922.000               UTILITIES 181.24

202076132414
47256 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 153.56

86 W CENTER
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 153.56

203411000335
47257 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 75.78

503 W CENTER - CENTER ST LIGHTS
101-463.000-922.000               UTILITIES 75.78

206881084705
47258 CONSUMERS ENERGY 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 36.49

25 MAIN ST BEERY FIELD BALL FIELD
101-751.000-922.000               UTILITIES 36.49

15964
47221 DOUGLAS SHELL 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 100.65

CAR REPAIRS
101-301.000-930.004               VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 100.65

15944
47222 DOUGLAS SHELL 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 99.65

CAR REPAIRS
101-301.000-930.004               VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 99.65

94598439
47250 ENVIRONMENTAL SYSTEMS RESEARCH INST 11/07/2023 12/04/2023 2,090.00

ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION
101-463.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 2,090.00

026020209
47220 GALLS 10/20/2023 12/04/2023 68.15

UNIFORM REIMBURSEMENT TONY BROWN
101-301.000-750.000               UNIFORMS 68.15

11-16-23
47187 KIMBERLY S HOSSINK 11/16/2023 12/04/2023 140.00

CLEANING SERVICES
101-265.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 100.00
101-301.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 40.00

285610
47225 IHLE AUTO PARTS 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 27.81
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MAINTAIN TRUCK 7
660-903.000-930.004               VEHICLE MAINTENANCE & REPAIRS 27.81

11-17-23
47185 LAURA KASPER 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 44.54

MILEAGE
101-215.000-861.000               MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 44.54

236852
47214 KERKSTRA RESTROOM SERVICE 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 180.00

DOUGLAS BEACH
101-751.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 180.00

21581
47249 MENARDS-HOLLAND 11/29/2023 12/04/2023 10.44

SUPPLIES
101-265.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 10.44

4812889224
47198 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 11/18/2023 12/04/2023 142.02

47 CENTER
101-301.000-922.000               UTILITIES 142.02

4812779082
47199 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 11/18/2023 12/04/2023 51.88

201 WASHINGTON ST POINT PLEASANT
594-597.000-922.000               UTILITIES 51.88

4811276948
47200 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 11/18/2023 12/04/2023 53.77

415 WILEY
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 53.77

4814537521
47201 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 11/18/2023 12/04/2023 270.24

486 WATER
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 270.24

4813770051
47202 MICHIGAN GAS UTILITIES 11/18/2023 12/04/2023 86.05

86 CENTER
101-265.000-922.000               UTILITIES 86.05

1903934
47219 MILLER JOHNSON 11/21/2023 12/04/2023 924.00

LABOR & EMPLOYMENT MATTERS
101-266.000-801.000               CONTRACTUAL ATTORNEY 924.00

INV81638
47251 MUNICIPAL SUPPLY CO. 11/21/2023 12/04/2023 185.87

RAIN GEAR
101-463.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 185.87

31733
47223 NEW DAWN LINEN SERVICE 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 42.78

COMMERCIAL CLEANING
101-265.000-802.000               COMMERCIAL CLEANING 15.01
101-301.000-802.000               COMMERCIAL CLEANING 27.77

869374
47196 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY 11/16/2023 12/04/2023 490.41

UNIFORM REIMBURSEMENT -STEVE KENT
101-301.000-750.000               UNIFORMS 490.41

868550
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47197 NYE UNIFORM COMPANY 11/13/2023 12/04/2023 1.00
UNIFORM REIMBURSEMENT - SCHIPPER
101-301.000-750.000               UNIFORMS 1.00

2311-718868
47227 OVERISEL LUMBER CO. 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 24.99

GLOVES
101-751.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 24.99

2311-717898
47228 OVERISEL LUMBER CO. 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 37.99

REKEY BARREL
101-265.000-930.000               REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE: GENERAL 37.99

2311-718072
47229 OVERISEL LUMBER CO. 11/21/2023 12/04/2023 3.78

KEYS
101-265.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 3.78

2311-718074
47248 OVERISEL LUMBER CO. 11/21/2023 12/04/2023 6.49

QUICK HOOK
101-463.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 6.49

11-17-23
47189 JENNIFER PEARSON 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 106.48

REIMBURSE FABRIC FOR DDA TREE
248-728.000-880.000               COMMUNITY PROMOTION 106.48

105579
47190 PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 4,057.97

BURRITO WORK
243-000.000-802.243               BLIGHT REMOVAL 4,057.97

105580
47191 PM ENVIRONMENTAL, INC 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 5,459.48

EPA GRANT WORK
243-000.000-802.243               BLIGHT REMOVAL 5,459.48

13693
47230 SCOTT'S LANDSCAPE MANAGMENT INC 11/21/2023 12/04/2023 11,962.50

FALL CLEANUP
101-463.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 11,962.50

11-28-23
47224 MICHAEL TORREZ 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 52.40

CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICER MILEAGE
101-701.000-861.000               MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 52.40

129094
47212 VC3 INC 11/14/2023 12/04/2023 40.00

MONTHLY PD LICENSES
101-301.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 40.00

129095
47213 VC3 INC 11/14/2023 12/04/2023 246.50

MONTHLY OFFICE LICENSES
101-215.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 246.50

INV0667VC3
47215 VC3 INC 11/27/2023 12/04/2023 271.00

DOCKING STATION
101-265.000-979.000               CAPITAL OUTLAY 271.00

9950138784
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47252 VERIZON WIRELESS 11/24/2023 12/04/2023 134.80
DPW IPADS
101-463.000-851.000               TELEPHONE 134.80

97497
47193 WILLIAMS AND WORKS 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 5,464.20

PLANNING CONSULTATION SERVICES
101-701.000-803.000               CONTRACTUAL CONSULTANT 5,464.20

97501
47194 WILLIAMS AND WORKS 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 787.50

MASTER PLAN UPDATE
101-701.000-803.000               CONTRACTUAL CONSULTANT 787.50

97362
47195 WILLIAMS AND WORKS 11/17/2023 12/04/2023 2,408.75

HAWORTH PROERTY DESIGN WORK
243-000.000-802.243               BLIGHT REMOVAL 2,408.75

Purchase Card Vendor: 10071 CARDMEMBER SERVICE
2603305037
47192 ADOBE ACROBAT PRO 11/13/2023 12/04/2023 265.94

ADOBE SUBS
101-172.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 45.24
101-215.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 132.97
101-701.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 66.49
101-463.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 21.24

114-6073899-6240217
47183 AMAZON MARKETPLACE 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 285.96

REPLACEMENT MONITOR
101-265.000-979.000               CAPITAL OUTLAY 285.96

114-7874430-9744213
47184 AMAZON MARKETPLACE 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 44.97

SUPPLIES
101-265.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 44.97

331188
47188 HARDWARE SOURCE 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 508.61

DOUGLAS BEACH GATE REPAIRS
101-751.000-930.000               REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE: GENERAL 508.61

11-28-23
47217 KENT COUNTY REFUSE DISPOSAL 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 92.16

NARCOTICS DROP BOX DISPOSAL 
101-301.000-802.000               CONTRACTUAL 92.16

11-8-23
47218 MICH ASSOCIATION OF MUNICIPAL CLERK 11/28/2023 12/04/2023 81.00

CLERK MEMBERSHIP
101-215.000-908.000               DUES/FEES/PUBLICATIONS 81.00

11-20-23
47211 US POSTAL SERVICE 11/20/2023 12/04/2023 5.50

POSTAGE
101-301.000-740.000               SUPPLIES 5.50

INV228647344
47216 ZOOM VIDEO COMMUNICATIONS, INC 11/24/2023 12/04/2023 29.98

ZOOM
101-101.000-958.000               MISCELLANEOUS 29.98

Total Purchase Card Vendor: 10071 CARDMEMBER SERVICE 1,314.12
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# of Invoices:              61  # Due:    61           Totals: 53,709.11
# of Credit Memos:           0  # Due:     0           Totals: 0.00
Net of Invoices and Credit Memos: 53,709.11

--- TOTALS BY FUND ---

101 - GENERAL FUND 32,266.84
213 - SCHULTZ PARK LAUNCH RAMP 70.87
243 - BROWNFIELD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FUND 11,926.20
248 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 106.48
470 - MUNICIPAL BUILDING FUND 9,158.95
594 - DOUGLAS MARINA 151.96
660 - EQUIPMENT RENTAL FUND 27.81

--- TOTALS BY DEPT/ACTIVITY ---

000.000 - 11,926.20
101.000 - LEGISLATIVE 29.98
172.000 - MANAGER 45.24
215.000 - CLERK/TREASURER 505.01
265.000 - BUILDING & GROUNDS 10,983.02
266.000 - ATTORNEY 924.00
301.000 - POLICE 1,543.25
463.000 - GENERAL STREETS & ROW 19,716.68
597.000 - POINT PLEASANT 151.96
701.000 - PLANNING & ZONING 6,370.59
728.000 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 106.48
751.000 - PARKS & RECREATION 1,308.02
753.000 - LAUNCH RAMPS 70.87
903.000 - EQUIP. REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE 27.81
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MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Lisa Nocerini, City Manager 

FROM: Matt Smith, Treasurer 

DATE: November 27, 2023 

SUBJECT: Audit Presentation Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2023 

 
Siegfried Crandall, PC of Byron Center, Michigan completed the annual audit which included a 
complete review of the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, 
each major fund, component units, and the collective remaining fund information for the City of 
Douglas for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. 
 
A member of the Siegfried Crandall team will present a summary of the results. 
 
Presentation – No Action Required 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
Allegan County, Michigan 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Year ended June 30, 2023 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
 
City Council 
City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan 
 
 
Opinions 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely presented 
component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of the Village of 
Douglas, Michigan (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements, as listed in the contents. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective 
financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and 
the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of June 30, 2023, and the respective changes in financial 
position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the City, and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
 
Change in Accounting Principle 
As discussed in Note 15 to the financial statements, the City adopted GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated 
Absences, during the current fiscal year. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for 
twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise 
substantial doubt shortly thereafter.  
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City Council 
City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan 
Page 2 
 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a 
substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, 
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 
 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that 
we identified during the audit. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and pension schedules, as listed in the contents, be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 
comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us 
with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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City Council 
City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan 
Page 3 
 
 
Supplementary information 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise 
the City’s basic financial statements. The combining nonmajor governmental fund financial statements and budgetary 
comparison schedules for the component units are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived 
from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the 
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial 
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated, in all material respects in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
 

  

 
October 27, 2023 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 
Our discussion and analysis of the City of the Village of Douglas’ (the City) financial performance provides a narrative overview 
of the City’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. Please read it in conjunction with the City’s financial 
statements. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
• The City’s total net position increased by $324,789 (2.44 percent) as a result of this year’s operations. 
• Total net position at the end of the fiscal year was $13,627,118. However, $10,545,796 of this total represents a net 

investment in capital assets and $506,559 is restricted for various purposes. Consequently, the City’s unrestricted net 
position is $2,574,763, which is available to be used at the Council’s discretion without constraints established by debt 
covenants, enabling legislation, or other legal requirements. 

• The General Fund’s unassigned fund balance at the end of the fiscal year was $2,217,913, which represents 82 percent 
of the actual total General Fund expenditures for the fiscal year. 

 
Overview of the financial statements 
 
The City’s annual report is comprised of four parts: management’s discussion and analysis, the basic financial statements, 
required supplementary information, and an optional section that presents component unit budgetary comparison schedules. 
The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the City: 
 
• The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term 

information about the City’s overall financial status. 
• The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the City government, reporting 

the City’s operations in more detail than the government-wide financial statements. 
o Governmental funds statements explain how government services, like general government, public safety, and 

public works, were financed in the short-term, as well as what remains for future spending. 
o Proprietary funds statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the activities the 

government operates like a business, such as the Equipment Rental internal service fund. 
 
The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements and provide more 
detailed data. The financial statements are followed by sections of required supplementary information and other 
supplementary information that further explain and support the information in the financial statements. 
 
A comparative analysis of the government-wide financial statements for 2023 and 2022 is also presented. 
 
Government-wide financial statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements report information about the City as a whole using accounting methods similar to 
those used by private-sector companies. The Statement of Net Position includes all of the City’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in 
the Statement of Activities, regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the City’s net position and how it has changed. Net position (the difference 
between the City’s assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and deferred inflows of resources) is one way to 
measure the City’s financial health, or position. 
 
• Over time, increases or decreases in the City’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or 

deteriorating, respectively. 
• To assess the overall health of the City, you need to consider additional nonfinancial factors, such as changes in the City’s 

property tax base and the condition of the City’s capital assets. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
 
The government-wide financial statements present governmental activities. All of the City’s basic services are included here, 
such as general government, public works, etc. Property taxes and intergovernmental revenues generally fund these services. 
 
Fund financial statements 
 
The fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City’s most significant funds - not the City as a 
whole. Funds are accounting devices that the City uses to keep track of specific sources of funding and spending for particular 
purposes. 
 
• Some funds are required by state law (like the street funds). 
• The City Council establishes other funds to control and manage money for particular purposes (like the Water and Sewer 

Revolving Fund) or to show that it is properly using certain taxes and other revenues. 
 
The City has three types of funds: 
 
• Governmental funds. The City’s basic services are included in its governmental funds, which focus on (1) how cash, and 

other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash, flows in and out, and (2) the balances left at year end that 
are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental funds statements provide a detailed short-term view that 
helps determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance 
the City’s programs. Because this information does not encompass the additional long-term focus of the government-
wide statements, we provide additional information that explains the relationship between them. 
 

• Proprietary funds. Services for which the City charges customers a fee are generally reported in proprietary funds. 
Proprietary funds statements, like the government-wide statements, provide both long-term and short-term financial 
information. The City uses an internal service fund to report activities that provide services for the City’s other 
programs and activities. The City’s internal service fund is its Equipment Fund that manages the City’s fleet of vehicles 
and equipment. The Equipment Fund has been included within the governmental activities in the government-wide 
financial statements.  
 

• Fiduciary funds. These funds are used to account for the collection and disbursement of resources, primarily taxes, for 
the benefit of parties outside the City. The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in the fiduciary 
funds are used for their intended purposes. The City’s fiduciary balances and activities are reported in the Statement of 
Fiduciary Net Position and Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. We exclude these activities from the City’s 
government-wide financial statements because the City cannot use these assets to finance its operations. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 
Net position 
Total net position at the end of the fiscal year was $13,627,118. However, $10,545,796 of this total is invested in capital assets 
and $506,559 is restricted for various purposes. Consequently, the City has unrestricted net position of $2,574,763. 
 

2023 2022

Current and other assets 4,407,810$       4,536,395$       
Capital assets 10,545,796       9,940,204         

Total assets 14,953,606       14,476,599       

Deferred outflows of resources 501,990            232,410            

Current and other l iabil ities 1,728,871         911,487            

Deferred inflows of resources 99,607               495,193            

Net position:
Investment in capital assets 10,545,796       9,940,204         
Restricted 506,559            334,033            
Unrestricted 2,574,763         3,028,092         

Total net position 13,627,118$    13,302,329$    

Condensed financial information
Net position

 
 
Changes in net position 
The City’s total revenues for the current fiscal year amounted to $4,557,974, compared to $4,333,178 in the prior year. 
Approximately 57 percent of the City’s revenues comes from property taxes. About 15 percent of the City’s revenues comes 
from operating grants and 11 percent comes from charges for services. Capital grants and contributions represented 9 
percent of the City’s revenue in the current year. State shared revenue represents only 3 percent of the City’s total 
revenues. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
 

2023 2022

Program revenues:
Charges for services 481,767$          367,040$          
Operating grants and contributions 668,732            655,385            
Capital grants and contributions 393,189            645,536            

General revenues:   
Property taxes 2,597,229         2,431,834         
State shared revenue 153,977            162,971            
Local community stabil ization revenue 44,374               45,109               
Excise tax 104,255            112,907            
Investment income 97,031               (104,536)           
Other 17,420               16,932               

Total revenues 4,557,974         4,333,178         

Expenses:
General government 902,656            804,505            
Public safety 810,025            772,593            
Public works 1,959,088         1,957,307         
Community and economic development 307,052            220,556            
Recreation and culture 254,364            372,542            

Total expenses 4,233,185         4,127,503         

Changes in net position 324,789            205,675            

Net position, end of year 13,627,118$    13,302,329$    

Condensed financial information
Changes in net position

 
 
Governmental activities 
Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $324,789 in the current year compared to a $205,675 increase in 
the prior year. The increase in net position was higher this year as revenues increased by $224,796, while expenses increased 
by $105,682.  
 
Revenues increased primarily due to increases in property taxes, as taxable values continue to increase, and investment 
income.  
 
Expenses increased primarily due to inflationary increases. 
 
The total cost of governmental activities this year was $4,233,185. After subtracting the direct charges to those who directly 
benefited from the programs ($481,767), operating grants ($668,732), and capital grants ($393,189), the “public benefit” 
portion covered by property taxes, state shared revenue, and other general revenues was $2,689,497. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY’S FUNDS 
 
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $3,022,378, 
an increase of $412,294 in comparison to the prior year. 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. At the end of the fiscal year, its fund balance was $2,267,820, 
which represents an increase of $190,257, as revenues ($3,556,232) were sufficient to cover expenditures ($2,689,678) and 
net other financing uses ($676,297) during the current year.  
 
The Local Street Fund experienced an increase in fund balance of $58,923, as the fund’s revenues ($123,257) and transfers in 
($445,797) were sufficient to cover expenditures ($510,131) during the current year. The fund balance at the end of the fiscal 
year was $172,688 and is restricted for future street preservation costs of the City’s local streets. 
 
The Blue Star Corridor Improvement Fund experienced a decrease in fund balance of $10,586, as the fund’s expenditures of 
$119,213 exceeded revenues of $108,627. Expenditures included sidewalk costs during the current year. The fund balance at 
the end of the fiscal year was $130,322 and is assigned for future capital costs of the City’s Blue Star Corridor. 
 
General Fund budgetary highlights 
 
The City amended the General Fund budget during the year to account for previously unanticipated revenues and 
expenditures and to reallocate appropriations among activities.  
 
The City amended its revenue budget to increase total revenues by $99,142 to reflect changes that occurred over the course of 
the year. The largest change related to charges for services which were increased by $60,327 for planning and zoning services. 
The City also amended its appropriations during the current year so that total budgeted expenditures were increased by 
$78,307. Public works expenditures were reduced by $73,846, as costs were lower than expected, while capital outlay 
expenditures were increased by $143,579 to account for capital improvements that were not anticipated in the original 
budget. 
 
Total actual revenues were $120,067 more than budgeted, primarily due to investment returns. Total expenditures were 
$79,934 less than the amounts appropriated. These variances, along with a $76,120 positive variance associated with transfers 
out, resulted in a $276,121 positive budget variance, due to a $190,257 increase in fund balance compared to a budgeted 
decrease of $85,864. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets 
The City’s investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2023, amounts to $10,545,796 (net of accumulated depreciation). This 
investment includes a broad range of assets, including land, buildings, equipment, and infrastructure. This amount represents 
a net increase of $605,592, comprised of $1,590,052 in additions offset by $984,460 in provisions for depreciation. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued) 
 
 
This year’s major capital asset additions included: 

• Street improvements were made at a cost of $369,474 
• Pride Garden donation was made at an appraised cost of $286,000 
• Non-motorized trail improvements were made at a cost of $146,520 
• Playground equipment was acquired for $84,023 

 
More detailed information about the City’s capital assets is presented in Note 5 of the notes to the basic financial statements. 
 
Debt 
At year end, the City had no outstanding long-term debt.  
 
Other noncurrent liabilities of the City include accrued compensated absences, in the amount of $142,559, and a net pension 
liability, associated with its defined benefit pension plan, in the amount of $762,753. 
 
More detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 7 of the notes to the basic financial 
statements. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 
 
The City’s 2023-2024 fiscal year budget does not anticipate significant changes in the amounts or composition of its major 
revenue sources. The City has budgeted expenditures for the upcoming year at amounts sufficient to support its ongoing 
programs and activities, while maintaining the current levels of its resources. 
 
CONTACTING THE CITY’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances to its citizens, customers, investors, and 
creditors and to demonstrate the City’s accountability for the resources it receives. Questions regarding any information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: 
 

City of the Village of Douglas Phone: (269) 857-1438 
Matt Smith, City Treasurer 
86 West Center Street 
Douglas, MI 49406 
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2023

Primary
government

Downtown Kalamazoo Lake Brownfield
Governmental Development Harbor Redevelopment

activities Authority Authority Authority
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash 1,412,070$             98,297$                   4,145$                     40,527$                   
Investments 2,692,944               -                           -                           -                           
Receivables 179,047                   -                           -                           -                           
Prepaids 4,903                       -                           -                           -                           

Total current assets 4,288,964               98,297                     4,145                       40,527                     

Noncurrent assets:
Receivables 118,846                   -                           -                           -                           
Capital assets not being depreciated 869,349                   -                           -                           -                           
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 9,676,447               -                           -                           -                           

Total noncurrent assets 10,664,642             -                           -                           -                           

Total assets 14,953,606             98,297                     4,145                       40,527                     

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred pension amounts 501,990                   -                           -                           -                           

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Payables 421,437                   3,043                       -                           5,656                       
Escrows 402,122                   -                           -                           -                           

Total current liabilities 823,559                   3,043                       -                           5,656                       

Noncurrent liabilities:
Compensated absences 142,559                   -                           -                           -                           
Net pension liability 762,753                   -                           -                           -                           

Total noncurrent liabilities 905,312                   -                           -                           -                           

Total liabilities 1,728,871               3,043                       -                           5,656                       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred pension amounts 75,607                     -                           -                           -                           
Unavailable lease revenue 24,000                     -                           -                           -                           

Total deferred inflows of resources 99,607                     -                           -                           -                           

NET POSITION
Investment in capital assets 10,545,796             -                           -                           -                           
Restricted for:    

Public works 384,112                   
Recreation and culture 6,196                       -                           -                           -                           
Capital improvements 116,251                   -                           -                           -                           

Unrestricted 2,574,763               95,254                     4,145                       34,871                     

Total net position 13,627,118$           95,254$                   4,145$                     34,871$                   

Component units

See notes to financial statements
-12-
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year ended June 30, 2023

Primary  
government

Operating Capital Downtown Kalamazoo Lake Brownfield
Charges for grants and grants and  Development Harbor Redevelopment

Expenses services contributions contributions Totals Authority Authority Authority
Functions/Programs
Primary government
Governmental activities:

General government 902,656$          180,713$          22,489$            -$                   (699,454)$         
Public safety 810,025            63,752               9,227                 -                     (737,046)           
Public works 1,959,088         60,948               637,016            1,308                 (1,259,816)        
Community and economic development 307,052            84,810               -                     -                     (222,242)           
Recreation and culture 254,364            91,544               -                     391,881            229,061            

Total governmental activities 4,233,185         481,767            668,732            393,189            (2,689,497)        

Component units
Downtown Development Authority 39,545               -                     9,000                 -                     (30,545)$                 -$                         -$                         
Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority 1,276                 -                     -                     -                     -                           (1,276)                      -                           
Brownfield Redevelopment 49,571               -                     75,000               -                     -                           -                           25,429                     

Total component units 90,392$            -$                   84,000$            -$                   (30,545)                   (1,276)                      25,429                     

General revenues:
Property taxes 2,597,229         40,424                     -                           -                           
State shared revenue 153,977            -                           -                           -                           
Excise taxes 104,255            -                           -                           -                           
Local community stabilization revenue 44,374               -                           -                           -                           
Franchise fees 17,420               -                           -                           -                           
Unrestricted investment return 97,031               2,235                       113                          617                          

Totals 3,014,286         42,659                     113                          617                          

Changes in net position 324,789            12,114                     (1,163)                      26,046                     

Net position - beginning 13,302,329       83,140                     5,308                       8,825                       

Net position - ending 13,627,118$     95,254$                   4,145$                     34,871$                   

Program revenues Net (expenses) revenues and changes in net position

Component units

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
BALANCE SHEET - governmental funds
June 30, 2023

Blue Star Total
Local Corridor Nonmajor governmental

General Streets Improvement funds funds
ASSETS
Cash 6,324$          221,693$      224,843$      513,294$      966,154$             
Investments 2,692,944    -                -                -                2,692,944            
Receivables 200,122        13,209          -                84,562          297,893               
Prepaids 3,354            730               -                819               4,903                   

Total assets 2,902,744$  235,632$      224,843$      598,675$      3,961,894$         

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Payables 94,001$        62,944$        94,521$        147,127$      398,593$             
Escrows 402,122        -                -                -                402,122               

Total liabilities 496,123        62,944          94,521          147,127        800,715               

Deferred inflows of resources:
Unavailable special assessments 114,801        -                -                -                114,801               
Unavailable lease revenue 24,000          -                -                -                24,000                 

Total deferred inflows of resources 138,801        -                -                -                138,801               

Fund balances:
Nonspendable - prepaids 3,354            730               -                819               4,903                   
Restricted for:

Public works -                171,958        -                210,605        382,563               
Recreation and culture 6,196            -                -                -                6,196                   
Capital improvements -                -                -                116,251        116,251               

Committed for recreation and culture -                -                -                123,873        123,873               
Assigned for:    

Public works 40,357          -                -                -                40,357                 
Capital improvements -                -                130,322        -                130,322               

Unassigned 2,217,913    -                -                -                2,217,913            

Total fund balances 2,267,820    172,688        130,322        451,548        3,022,378            

Total liabilities and fund balances 2,902,744$  235,632$      224,843$      598,675$      3,961,894$         

Reconciliation of the balance sheet to the statement of net position:

Total fund balance - total governmental funds 3,022,378$         

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of net position (page 11) are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities  are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. 9,889,254            

Other long-term assets, consisting of special assessments, are not available to pay for current-period expenditures  
and, therefore, are presented as deferred inflows of resources in the funds. 114,801               

Long-term liabilities, consisting of compensated absences, are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Compensated absences (142,559)             

Pension-related amounts are not due and payable in the current period or do not
represent current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Net pension liability (762,753)             
Deferred outflows related to the pension liability 501,990               
Deferred inflows related to the pension liability (75,607)                

The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are included in the
governmental activities  in the statement of net position. 1,079,614            

Net position of governmental activities 13,627,118$       

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND
BALANCES - governmental funds
Year ended June 30, 2023

Blue Star Total
Local Corridor Nonmajor governmental

General Streets Improvement funds funds
REVENUES
Property taxes 2,697,735$  -$               -$                     -$               2,697,735$          
Licenses and permits 93,187          -                 -                       -                 93,187                  
Federal grants 21,029          -                 -                       72,932          93,961                  
State grants 217,859        117,405        104,255              251,962        691,481                
Contributions from local units 189,617        -                 -                       -                 189,617                
Charges for services 139,977        -                 -                       90,835          230,812                
Fines and forfeitures 2,955             -                 -                       -                 2,955                    
Investment return and rentals 81,055          5,852             4,372                   10,423          101,702                
Other 112,818        -                 -                       -                 112,818                

Total revenues 3,556,232     123,257        108,627              426,152        4,214,268            

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 840,547        -                 -                       -                 840,547                
Public safety 767,169        -                 -                       -                 767,169                
Public works 383,396        510,131        -                       395,853        1,289,380            
Community and economic

development 291,372        -                 -                       -                 291,372                
Recreation and culture 134,446        -                 -                       8,857             143,303                

Capital outlay 272,748        -                 119,213              78,242          470,203                

Total expenditures 2,689,678     510,131        119,213              482,952        3,801,974            

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 866,554        (386,874)       (10,586)               (56,800)         412,294                

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 4,500             445,797        -                       235,000        685,297                
Transfers out (680,797)       -                 -                       (4,500)           (685,297)              

Net other financing
sources (uses) (676,297)       445,797        -                       230,500        -                         

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 190,257        58,923          (10,586)               173,700        412,294                

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 2,077,563     113,765        140,908              277,848        2,610,084            

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 2,267,820$  172,688$      130,322$            451,548$      3,022,378$          
 

See notes to financial statements
-15-

30

Item 8A.



City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND 
BALANCES - governmental funds (Continued)
Year ended June 30, 2023

Reconciliation of the statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances to the statement of activities:

Net change in fund balance - total governmental funds (page 14) 412,294$             

Amounts reported for governmental activities  in the statement of activities
(page 12) are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the costs of those assets are allocated over their
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.

Add - asset acquisitions 1,080,830            
Deduct - depreciation provision (824,967)              

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the
governmental funds.

Net increase in compensated absences (34,328)                 
Net increase in net pension liability (752,250)              

Changes in deferred outflows and deferred inflows:
Decrease in deferred inflows of resources related to unavailable revenue (16,898)                 
Net increase in deferred outflows of resources related to pension 269,580                
Net increase in deferred inflows of resources related to pension 381,186                

The net activity of the internal service fund are reported with governmental activities. (190,658)              

Change in net position of governmental activities 324,789$             
 
 

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - Proprietary Fund
June 30, 2023

Governmental
activities
Internal
service

ASSETS
Current assets - cash 445,916$                  

Noncurrent assets - capital assets, net of depreciation 656,542                    

Total assets 1,102,458                 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities - payables 22,844                      

NET POSITION
Investment in capital assets 656,542                    
Unrestricted 423,072                    

Total net position 1,079,614$              

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION -
Proprietary Fund
Year ended June 30, 2023

Governmental
activities
Internal
service

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services 30,360$                    

OPERATING EXPENSES
Costs of interfund services 78,404                      
Depreciation 159,493                    

Total operating expenses 237,897                    

OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) (207,537)                   

NONOPERATING REVENUE
Interest revenue 16,879                      

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (190,658)                   

NET POSITION - BEGINNING 1,270,272                 

NET POSITION - ENDING 1,079,614$              

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - Proprietary Fund
Year ended June 30, 2023

Governmental
activities
Internal
service

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from interfund services provided 30,360$                    
Payments to suppliers (58,257)                     

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (27,897)                     

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets (509,222)                   

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 16,879                      

NET CHANGE IN CASH (520,240)                   

CASH - BEGINNING 966,156                    

CASH - ENDING 445,916$                  

Reconciliation of operating income (loss)  to net cash  
provided by (used in) operating activities:

Operating income (loss) (207,537)$                
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation expense 159,493                    
Change in assets and liabilities - decrease in payables 20,147                      

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (27,897)$                   

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - custodial funds
June 30, 2023

Tax General
Collection Custodial

ASSETS
Cash -$                   -$                   

LIABILITIES 
Due to others -                     -                     

NET POSITION
Due to other entities -$                   -$                   

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION - custodial funds
Year ended June 30, 2023

Tax General
Collection Custodial

ADDITIONS
Property taxes collected for other governments 7,234,469$       -$                   
Donations collected for other entities -                     28,543               
 

Total additions 7,234,469         28,543               

DEDUCTIONS
Property taxes distributed to other governments 7,234,469         -                     
Payments to others -                     73,204               

Total deductions 7,234,469         73,204               

NET CHANGE IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION -                     (44,661)             

NET POSITION - BEGINNING -                     44,661               

NET POSITION - ENDING -$                   -$                   

See notes to financial statements
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies of the City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan (the City), conform to accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (hereinafter referred to as generally accepted accounting principles) as applicable to 
governmental units. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies. 
 
Reporting entity: 
As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the City (the primary 
government), located in Allegan County, and its component units described below, for which the City is financially 
accountable. The discretely presented component units are reported in separate columns in the government-wide financial 
statements to emphasize that they are legally separate from the primary government. Separate financial statements for the 
component units have not been issued, as management believes that these financial statements, including disclosures, contain 
complete information so as to constitute a fair presentation of the component units. 
 

Discretely presented component units: 
Douglas Downtown Development Authority - The Authority was established, pursuant to Public Act 197 of 1975, as 
amended, to correct and prevent deterioration and promote economic growth within the downtown district. The 
Authority is fiscally dependent on the City because the City Council appoints the Authority’s governing body and 
approves its budget. The City is also obligated to provide some of its tax revenues to the Authority, through tax 
increment financing, which represents a financial burden on the City. Fiscal dependence and the financial burden 
relationship make the City financially accountable for the Authority and require the City to report it in its financial 
statements.  
 
Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority - The Authority was established pursuant to Public Act 94 of 2008, as amended, 
to obtain funding to maintain the Kalamazoo River harbor. The Authority is included in the reporting entity due to 
its close relation to, and financial integration with, the City.  
 
Douglas Brownfield Redevelopment Authority: 
The Authority was established in 2019 pursuant to Public Act 381 of 1996, as amended, to promote the revitalization 
of environmentally distressed areas within the City. The Authority is fiscally dependent on the City because the City 
Council appoints the Authority’s governing body and approves its budget. Fiscal dependence makes the City 
financially accountable for the Authority and requires the City to report the Authority in the City’s financial 
statements. 
 

Government-wide and fund financial statements: 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) report 
information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City. The effect of interfund activity has been removed from these 
statements. Governmental activities, normally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. The City has no 
business-type activities.  
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset by program 
revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Program revenues include: (1) charges 
to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given 
function; and (2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 
function. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues. 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, the proprietary fund, and the fiduciary fund, even 
though the latter is excluded from government-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds are reported 
in separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation: 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual 
basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are 
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues 
in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements 
imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental funds financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues 
are considered to be available if they are collected within the current period, or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the 
current period. For this purpose, the City generally considers revenues to be available if they are expected to be collected 
within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period, except for state grants which uses a one-year collection period. For this 
purpose, the City generally considers property tax revenues to be available if they are expected to be collected within 60 days 
of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures, expenditures relating to compensated absences, and claims and judgments 
are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Licenses and permits, state grants, contributions from local units, charges for services, and interest associated with the current 
fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal 
period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable only when cash is received by the City. 
 
The City reports the following major governmental funds: 
 

The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the City, except those 
required to be accounted for in another fund. Revenues are primarily derived from property taxes and state shared 
revenue. 

 
The Local Street Fund, a special revenue fund, accounts for state gas and weight tax revenues that are restricted for 
expenditures related to maintaining and improving the City’s local streets. 

 
The Blue Star Corridor fund, a capital project fund, accounts for state use tax from marijuana sales, that are used for 
infrastructure along the blue star corridor. 

 
Additionally, the City reports an internal service fund that is used to account for equipment management services provided 
to other departments of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
 
The City also reports custodial funds which account for assets held by the City in a fiduciary capacity for other governments 
and entities. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include: (1) charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or privileges 
provided; (2) operating grants and contributions; and (3) capital grants and contributions. Internally dedicated resources are 
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses 
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s 
principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the proprietary fund are charges for services. Operating 
expenses for the proprietary fund include the cost of services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. 
All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and equity: 

Cash and investments - Cash is considered to be demand deposits, time deposits, and short-term investments with 
original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Investments are reported at fair value, with 
changes in value recognized in the operating statement of each fund. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are 
included in investment income.  

 
Receivables - No allowance for uncollectible accounts has been recorded, as the City considers all receivables to be 
fully collectible. 
 
Prepaids - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 
prepaids in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. 

 
Capital assets - Capital assets, which include property, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g., streets and sewer 
and water lines), are reported in the government-wide financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the City as 
assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $3,000 ($10,000 for infrastructure assets) and an estimated useful 
life in excess of three years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or 
constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value as of the date received. Governments can elect 
to account for infrastructure assets either retroactively to June 15, 1980, or prospectively. The City has elected to 
account for infrastructure assets prospectively, beginning July 1, 2003.  

 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 

 
Buildings 40 years
Improvements 10 - 15 years
Machinery and equipment 3 - 10 years
Infrastructure 10 - 40 years  

 
Deferred outflows of resources - The statement of net position includes a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element reflects a decrease in net position that applies to a future 
period. The related expense will not be recognized until a future event occurs. The City reports deferred amounts 
relating to the defined benefit pension plan, associated with changes in expected and actual investment returns, 
assumptions, and benefits, which are discussed in Note 9. No deferred outflows of resources affect the 
governmental funds financial statements. 
 
Compensated absences - It is the City’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused sick and 
vacation pay benefits. A liability for unpaid accumulated vacation and sick leave has been recorded for the portion 
due to employees upon separation from service with the City. Vested compensated absences are accrued when 
earned in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported 
in governmental funds only for employee terminations as of year end. 

 
Pension - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the pension 
plan and additions to/deductions from the pension plan’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they are reported by the pension plan. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, and equity (continued): 

Deferred inflows of resources - The statement of net position includes a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element reflects an increase in equity that applies to a future period. 
The related revenues will not be recognized until a future event occurs. The City has two items, which arise under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, that qualify for reporting in this category. The items represent 
unavailable revenue, which is reported in the governmental funds balance sheet. The governmental funds report 
unavailable revenues from special assessments and a lease. These amounts are deferred and recognized as inflows 
of resources in the period that the revenues become available. The City also reports deferred amounts relating to 
the defined benefit pension plan, associated with changes in expected and actual investment returns, 
assumptions, and benefits, which are discussed in Note 9. 
 
Net position - Net position represents the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources, and 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources. The City reports three categories of net position, as follows: 
(1) Investment in capital assets consists of net capital assets and related deferred outflows of resources reduced by 
outstanding balances of any related debt obligations attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement 
of those assets; (2) Restricted net position is considered restricted if its use is constrained to a particular purpose. 
Restrictions are imposed by external organizations, such as federal or state laws or donors. Restricted net position 
is reduced by liabilities related to the restricted assets; (3) Unrestricted net position consists of all other net 
position that does not meet the definition of the above components and is available for general use by the City. 

 
Net position flow assumption - Sometimes, the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted 
(e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as 
restricted - net position and unrestricted - net position in the government-wide financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City’s 
policy to consider restricted - net position to have been depleted before unrestricted - net position is applied. 

 
Fund equity - Governmental funds report nonspendable fund balance for amounts that cannot be spent because they 
are not in spendable form (prepaids). Restricted fund balance is reported when externally imposed constraints are 
placed on the use of resources by grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments. Committed 
fund balance is reported for amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by 
formal action of the City Council. A formal resolution of the City Council is required to establish, modify, or rescind a 
fund balance commitment. The City reports assigned fund balance for amounts that are constrained by the City’s 
intent to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed. The City Council has delegated the 
authority to assign fund balance to management, per the City’s fund balance resolution. Unassigned fund balance is 
the residual classification for all other amounts. When the City incurs an expenditure for purposes for which various 
fund balance classifications can be used, it is the City’s policy to use the restricted fund balance first, then 
committed, assigned, and, finally, unassigned fund balance. The City Council has adopted a minimum fund balance 
policy in which the total fund balance of the General Fund (excluding any restricted balances) will be equal to at 
least 25 percent of the current year General Fund expenditures. If the General Fund balance falls below the 
minimum range, the City will replenish shortages or deficiencies using budget strategies and timeframes as 
detailed in the policy. 
 
Property tax revenue recognition - Property taxes are levied as of July 1 on property values assessed as of 
December 31 of the prior year. The billings are due on or before September 14, at which time the bill becomes 
delinquent and penalties and interest may be assessed by the City. Property tax revenue is recognized in the year 
for which taxes have been levied and become available. The City levy date is July 1, and, accordingly, the total levy 
is recognized as revenue in the current year. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Use of estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the period. Accordingly, actual 
results could vary from those estimates. 

 
NOTE 2 - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
Budgetary information - Annual budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles for 
the general and special revenue funds. The budget document presents information by fund, function, department, and line-
item. The legal level of budgetary control adopted by the governing body is the activity level. All annual appropriations lapse at 
the end of the fiscal year.  
 
Excess of expenditures over appropriations - The following schedule sets forth reportable budget variances: 

 
Final

Fund Function Activity budget Actual Variance

General Public safety Code inspections 48,903$      51,997$      3,094$        

General  Community and Economic Development Planning and Zoning 286,563      291,372      4,809           
 
NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
At June 30, 2023, cash and investments are classified in the accompanying financial statements as follows: 
 

 Governmental Custodial Component
 activities funds units Totals
Statement of net position:  
 Cash 1,412,070$               -$                 142,969$         1,555,039$     
 Investments 2,692,944                 -                    -                    2,692,944        

 
Totals 4,105,014$               -$                 142,969$         4,247,983$     

Primary government

 
 
At June 30, 2023, cash and investments consist of the following: 
 

Cash on hand 275$                
Deposits with financial institutions 1,554,764        
Investments 2,692,944        

Total 4,247,983$      
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
Deposits - Michigan Compiled Laws, Section 129.91 (Public Act 20 of 1943, as amended) and the City’s investment policy 
authorize the City to make deposits in the accounts of federally insured banks, credit unions, and savings and loan associations 
that have an office in Michigan. The City’s deposits are in accordance with statutory authority. 
 
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a financial institution, the City will not be able to 
recover its deposits. The City’s investment policy does not specifically address custodial credit risk for deposits. As of June 30, 
2023, $248,649 of the City’s bank balances of $1,316,553 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was uninsured and 
uncollateralized. The City maintains individual and pooled bank accounts for all of its funds and its component units. Due to 
the use of pooled deposits, it is not practicable to allocate insured and uninsured portions of certain bank balances 
between the primary government and the component units. 
 
Investments - State statutes and the City’s investment policy authorize the City to invest in a) obligations of the 
U.S. Treasury, agencies, and instrumentalities; b) commercial paper rated within the two highest rate classifications, which 
mature not more than 270 days after the date of purchase; c) repurchase agreements, collateralized by U.S. governmental 
securities; d) bankers' acceptances; e) mutual funds composed of otherwise legal investments; and f) investment pools 
organized under the local government investment pool act. The City’s investments are summarized as follows: 
 

Fair
value Maturity Rating Source

Michigan CLASS 713,828$     N/A AAAm S&P
U.S. government agency securities:

Federal Home Loan Bank bonds 910,404        2023-2026 AAA Moody
Federal Farm Credit Bank bonds 529,578        2023-2029 AAA Moody
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp bonds 451,976        2025 AAA Moody
Pickney Michigan Community Schools bonds 87,158          2028 Aa1 Moody

2,692,944$  

Investment

 
 
Fair value measurement - The City categorizes its fair value measurements of investments within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the 
fair value of the assets. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs are significant 
other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The U.S. government agency securities were 
valued using observable fair values of similar assets (Level 2). The Michigan CLASS Fund was measured at net asset value (or 
its equivalent) as a practical expedient, and, accordingly, has not been classified in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Investments in entities that calculate net asset value per share - The City holds shares in an investment pool where the fair 
value of the investment is measured on a recurring basis using net asset value per share of the investment pool as a 
practical expedient. At June 30, 2023, the fair value, unfunded commitments, and redemption rules of that investment are 
as follows: 
 

Michigan
CLASS

Fair value at June 30, 2023 713,828$     
Unfunded commitments none
Redemption frequency n/a
Notice period none  
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 3 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (Continued) 
 
The Michigan CLASS investment pool invests in U.S. Treasury obligations, federal agency obligations of the U.S. government, 
high-grade commercial paper (rated 'A-1' or better), collateralized bank deposits, repurchase agreements (collateralized at 
102% by treasury agencies), and approved money market funds. The program is designed to meet the needs of Michigan 
public sector investors. The pool purchases securities that are legally permissible under state statutes and are available for 
investment by Michigan counties, cities, townships, school districts, authorities, and other public agencies. 
 
The City’s investments are subject to several types of risk, which are discussed below: 
 
Custodial credit risk - Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty 
(e.g., broker-dealer) to a transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities 
that are in the possession of an outside party. State law does not require, and the City’s investment policy does not contain, 
requirements that would limit the exposure to custodial credit risk for investments. At year end, all of the U.S. government 
agency securities were uninsured and unregistered and held by the same broker-dealer (counterparty) that purchased the 
securities for the City. 
 
Credit risk - Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. 
This risk is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The City’s 
investment policy does not contain requirements that would limit the exposure to credit risk for investments. The credit 
quality ratings of the City’s investments are identified above. 
 
Concentration of credit risk - Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the City’s 
investment in a single issuer. State law and the City’s investment policy place no limitations on the amount that can be 
invested in any one issuer. The City minimizes concentration of credit risk by diversifying the investment portfolio so that 
the impact of potential losses from any one type of security of issuer will be minimized. All investments held at year end are 
reported above. 
 
Interest rate risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of an investment will decrease as a result of an increase in 
market interest rates. Generally, longer investment maturities generate more sensitivity to changes in an investment’s fair 
value due to changes in market interest rates. The City’s investment policy has no specific limitations with respect to 
maturities of investments. The maturities of the City’s investments are identified above. 
 
NOTE 4 - RECEIVABLES 
 
Receivables as of June 30, 2023, for the City’s individual major funds and nonmajor funds, in the aggregate, all of which are due 
within one year and are considered fully collectible, were as follows: 
 

Intergovern-
Accounts Assessments Lease mental Totals

 
Primary government:

Governmental:
General 15,961$        114,801$      24,000$        45,360$             200,122$      
Local Streets -                 -                 -                 13,209                13,209           
Nonmajor 53,120           -                 -                 31,442                84,562           

Total governmental 69,081$        114,801$      24,000$        90,011$             297,893$      
  

Noncurrent portion -$               109,246$      9,600$           -$                    118,846$      

Fund
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows: 
 

Beginning Ending
balance Increases Decreases balance

Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 442,796$      286,000$      -$               728,796$      
Construction in progress 377,567        121,523        (358,537)       140,553        

Subtotal 820,363        407,523        (358,537)       869,349        

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings 1,777,556     39,184           (10,935)         1,805,805     
Improvements 2,372,996     337,875        -                 2,710,871     
Machinery and equipment 1,625,391     635,128        (100,169)       2,160,350     
Infrastructure 13,975,419   528,879        -                 14,504,298   

Subtotal 19,751,362   1,541,066     (111,104)       21,181,324   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings (660,069)       (45,142)         10,935           (694,276)       
Improvements (769,130)       (157,018)       -                 (926,148)       
Machinery and equipment (991,834)       (208,824)       100,169        (1,100,489)    
Infrastructure (8,210,488)    (573,476)       -                 (8,783,964)    

Subtotal (10,631,521)  (984,460)       111,104        (11,504,877)  

Total capital assets being
depreciated 9,119,841     556,606        -                 9,676,447     

Governmental activities capital assets, net 9,940,204$   964,129$      (358,537)$     10,545,796$ 

 
Depreciation expense was charged to the City’s governmental functions as follows: 
 

Governmental activities:
General government 24,272$        
Public safety 4,528             
Public works 699,741        
Recreation and culture 96,426           
Depreciation on internal service fund assets 159,493        

Total governmental activities 984,460$      

 
 
 
 
 

-29- 

44

Item 8A.



City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 6 - PAYABLES 
 
Payables as of June 30, 2023, for the City’s individual major funds, nonmajor funds, and component units were as follows: 
 

Accounts Payroll Totals
 

Primary government:
Governmental:

General 65,858$          28,143$          94,001$          
Local Streets 61,383            1,561              62,944            
Water and Sewer Revolving 94,521            -                   94,521            
Nonmajor 145,356          1,771              147,127          

Total governmental 367,118$       31,475$          398,593$       
 

Internal Service - equipment 22,844$          -$                22,844$          

Component units:
Downtown Development

Authority 3,043$            -$                3,043$            

Brownfield Redevelopment
Authority 5,656$            -$                5,656$            

Fund

 
 
NOTE 7 - LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 
 
At June 30, 2023, long-term liabilities consist of compensated absences in the amount of $142,559. 
 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended June 30, 2023, was as follows: 
 

Amounts
Beginning Ending due within
balance Additions Reductions balance one year

Compensated absences 108,231$   34,328$      -$            142,559$   -$            

 
NOTE 8 - LEASE 
 
The City is the lessor of the property at 137 W. Center. The lease was entered into on December 7, 2021, with a 
commencement date of March 1, 2022, for a term of 3 years. At the end of that term the lessee shall have the option to 
purchase the property. During the year ended June 30, 2023, the City received lease revenues of $14,400. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan description: 
The City participates in the Municipal Employees’ Retirement System of Michigan (MERS). MERS is an agent multiple-
employer, statewide public employee pension plan established by the Michigan Legislature under Public Act 135 of 1945 and 
administered by a nine-member Retirement Board. MERS issues a publicly-available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information. This report may be obtained by accessing the MERS website at 
www.mersofmich.com. 
 
Benefits provided: 
The City’s defined benefit pension plan provides certain retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and 
beneficiaries and covers all full-time employees at the City. Retirement benefits for eligible employees vary by 
division/bargaining unit and are calculated as 2.0% to 2.25% of the employee’s five-year final average compensation times the 
employee’s years of service, with a maximum of 80% of final average compensation. Normal retirement age is 60, with early 
retirement at a reduced benefit at age 50, with 25 years of service, or age 55, with 15 years of service. Deferred retirement 
benefits vest after six years of credited service but are not paid until the date retirement would have occurred had the 
member remained an employee. Employees in the police/fire division of the plan are required to contribute 1.8% of their 
compensation to the plan. An employee who leaves service may withdraw their contributions, plus any accumulated interest. 
Benefit terms, within the parameters of MERS, are established and amended by the authority of the City Council. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms: 
At the December 31, 2022, measurement date, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 
 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 19      
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 15      
Active employees 14      

Total 48       
 
Contributions: 
The City is required to contribute amounts at least equal to an actuarially determined rate, as established by the 
MERS Retirement Board. The actuarially determined rate is the estimated amount necessary to finance the cost of benefits 
earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. For the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2023, City contributions ranged from 10.23% to 22.65% of covered payroll. Currently, employee contributions 
range from 0% to 1.8% of payroll. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City contributed $136,788 to the plan, and 
employees contributed $4,656.  
 
Net pension liability: 
The City’s net pension liability reported at June 30, 2023, was determined using a measurement of the total pension liability 
and the pension net position as of December 31, 2022. The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as 
of that date. 
 
Actuarial assumptions: 
The total pension liability in the December 31, 2022, actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial 
assumptions: 
 
Inflation 2.50%  
Salary increases 3.00% in the long term
Investment rate of return 7.00% net of investment expense, including inflation
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Mortality rates were based on a 50 percent male, 50 percent female blend of the Pub-2010 fully generational MP-2019 scale.  
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2022, valuation were based on the results of the actuarial experience 
studies from 2014 to 2018, and dated 2020, which is the most recent actuarial experience study. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a model method in which the best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of investment and administrative expenses, and 
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of 
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected 
inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized 
in the following schedule: 
 

Target  Long-term expected Expected money-weighted
Asset class allocation real rate of return rate of return

Global equity 60.00% 4.50% 2.70%
Global fixed income 20.00% 2.00% 0.40%
Private investments 20.00% 7.00% 1.40%

100.00%
Inflation 2.50%
Administrative expenses 0.25%

 
Investment rate of return 7.25%  

 
Discount rate: 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability is 7.25% for 2022. The projection of cash flows used to determine 
the discount rate assumes that employer contributions will be made at the actuarially determined rates for employers. Based 
on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to pay all projected future 
benefit payments of current active and inactive employees. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Changes in the net pension liability: 
 

Total pension Plan fiduciary Net pension
liability net position liability

(a) (b) (a) - (b)

Balances at December 31, 2021 4,662,387$        4,651,884$        10,503$             

Changes for the year:
Service cost 93,888               -                      93,888               
Interest 335,137             -                      335,137             
Differences between expected
  actual experience (24,748)              -                      (24,748)              
Changes in assumptions -                      -                      -                      
Employer contributions -                      139,315             (139,315)            
Employee contributions -                      4,711                  (4,711)                
Net investment income -                      (483,371)            483,371             
Benefit payments, including refunds (173,536)            (173,536)            -                      
Administrative expenses -                      (8,628)                8,628                  

Net changes 230,741             (521,509)            752,250             

Balances at December 31, 2022 4,893,128$        4,130,375$        762,753$           

Increase (decrease)

 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate: 
The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.25%, as well as what the 
City’s net pension liability would be using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.25%) or 1 percentage point higher 
(8.25%) than the current rate. 
 

1% Decrease Current rate 1% Increase
(6.25%) (7.25%) (8.25%)

City's net pension (asset) liability 1,385,561$     762,753$         246,335$          
 
Pension plan fiduciary net position: 
Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued MERS financial report, 
which can be found at www.mersofmichigan.com. The plan’s fiduciary net position has been determined on the same basis 
used by the plan. The plan uses the economic resources measurement focus and the full accrual basis of accounting. 
Investments are stated at fair value. Contribution revenue is recorded as contributions are due. Benefit payments are 
recognized as expense when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 9 - DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLAN (Continued) 
 
Pension expense, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources related to the pension plan: 
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023, the City recognized pension expense of $238,271. At June 30, 2023, the City reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, related to the pension plan, from the following sources: 
 

Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of

resources resources
  

Difference between projected and actual earnings 374,300$       -$                
Difference between expected and actual experience -                   75,607            
Difference in assumptions 62,204            -                   

436,504          75,607            

Contributions made subsequent to the measurement date 65,486            -                   

Total 501,990$       75,607$          

Source

 
 
The amount reported as deferred outflows of resources resulting from contributions made subsequent to the measurement 
date, in the amount of $65,486, will be recognized as a reduction in the net pension liability in fiscal year 2024. 
 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources, related to the pension plan, will 
be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Deferred Deferred
Year ended outflows of inflows of

June 30, resources resources

2024 92,191$            67,357$       
2025 70,668               8,250            
2026 109,795            -                
2027 163,850            -                

Totals 436,504$          75,607$        
 
NOTE 10 - PROPERTY TAX REVENUE 
 
The 2022 taxable valuation of the City amounted to $199,922,707, on which ad valorem taxes levied consisted of 
13.0818 mills for operating purposes raising $2,614,986 which is recognized in the fund financial statements as property tax 
revenue. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 11 - INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, interfund transfers consisted of the following: 
 

Transfers in Transfers out

General 4,500$            Nonmajor governmental 4,500$               

Nonmajor governmental 235,000         General 235,000            

Local Street 445,797         General 445,797            

Total 685,297$       Total 685,297$          

Fund Fund

 
 
The transfer out of the nonmajor governmental fund to the General Fund represents support for operational costs. 
 
The transfers out of the General Fund to nonmajor governmental funds, represent unrestricted revenues, collected in the 
General Fund, that were used to support costs accounted for in those funds. 

The transfer out of the General Fund to the Local Street Fund represents unrestricted revenues, collected in the General Fund, 
that were used to support street improvement and maintenance expenditures accounted for in the Local Street Fund. 
 
NOTE 12 - JOINT VENTURES AND JOINTLY GOVERNED ORGANIZATION 
 
Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority: 
The Kalamazoo Lake Sewer and Water Authority is a joint venture of the City, the City of Saugatuck, and the Township of 
Saugatuck. The Authority’s administrative board consists of five members appointed by each of the three participating 
units. The Authority was formed to operate, maintain, administer and manage the water and sewerage systems located 
within the constituent units of government. The City did not provide support to the Authority in fiscal year 2023. Any 
infrastructure constructed for the City, by the Authority, is recorded as infrastructure on the City’s records. Complete 
audited financial statements for the Authority can be obtained from their offices. The City has pledged its full faith and credit 
for its obligation to pay its portion (55.38 percent) of the Authority’s debt service in the event that the Authority is unable to 
meet its debt service requirements. The Authority’s loan balance at February 28, 2023, was $2,860,090. 
 
Saugatuck Township Fire District: 
The Saugatuck Township Fire District is a joint venture of the City, the City of Saugatuck, and the Township of Saugatuck. The 
District’s administrative board consists of seven members, one at-large member and two members from each of the three 
participating units. The budget of the District is approved at a joint meeting of the participating units. The City of the Village of 
Douglas did not provide support to the District in fiscal year 2023. The City does not retain an ongoing financial interest or 
responsibility in the District and is unaware of any circumstances that would cause an additional benefit or burden to the 
participating governments in the near future. 
 
Interurban Transit Authority: 
The City, in conjunction with the City of Saugatuck and the Township of Saugatuck, created the Interurban Transit Authority, 
which is considered a jointly governed organization. The Authority's administrative board consists of six members, two 
members appointed by each of the three participating units. The City of the Village of Douglas did not provide support to the 
Authority in fiscal year 2023. The City does not retain an ongoing financial interest or responsibility in the Authority and is 
unaware of any circumstances that would cause an additional benefit or burden to the participating governments in the near 
future. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
 
 
NOTE 13 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to general liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation, and 
employee medical claims. The City has purchased commercial insurance for each of these claims and is neither self-insured, 
nor participates in a shared-risk pool. For all risks of loss, there have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage 
from coverage provided in prior years. Also, in the past three years, settlements did not exceed insurance coverage. 
 
NOTE 14 - RESTRICTED NET POSITION 
 
In the government-wide statement of net position, the governmental activities report restricted net position, in the amount of 
$506,559. Of this amount, $384,112 is restricted for public works, $6,196 is restricted for recreation and culture, and $116,251 
is restricted for utility system improvements. Net position is restricted by enabling legislation related to the amounts restricted 
for public works. 

 
NOTE 15 - CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2023, the City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 
101, Compensated Absences. GASB Statement No. 101 replaces GASB 16, Accounting for Compensated Absences. The goal of 
the standard is to create a more consistent model for accounting for compensated absences that can be applied to all types of 
compensated absence arrangements. These changes were incorporated in the City’s 2023 statements and had no effect on the 
beginning fund balance or net position in any fund.  
 
NOTE 16 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
Subsequent to year end the City entered into an agreement for the purchase of a building for $1,500,000 plus closing costs. 
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - General Fund
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

REVENUES  
Property taxes 2,694,718$       2,697,759$       2,697,735$       (24)$                     
Licenses and permits 102,500             87,108               93,187               6,079                   
Federal grants -                     -                     21,029               21,029                 
State grants 207,960             220,123             217,859             (2,264)                  
Contributions from local units 182,200             186,331             189,617             3,286                   
Charges for services 56,950               117,277             139,977             22,700                 
Fines and forfeitures 4,000                 2,907                 2,955                 48                         
Investment return and rentals 18,500               21,550               81,055               59,505                 
Other 70,195               103,110             112,818             9,708                   

Total revenues 3,337,023         3,436,165         3,556,232         120,067               
  

EXPENDITURES   
General government:     

City Council 22,366               17,047               16,076               971                       
Manager 185,515             180,090             178,583             1,507                   
Elections 10,328               8,031                 8,031                 -                       
Assessor 63,997               62,664               62,465               199                       
Treasurer and Clerk 349,752             340,178             335,494             4,684                   
Building and grounds 128,147             117,236             115,048             2,188                   
Other 66,900               129,863             124,850             5,013                   

Total general government 827,005             855,109             840,547             14,562                 

Public safety:  
Police department 740,370             720,898             715,172             5,726                   
Code inspections 65,000               48,903               51,997               (3,094)                  

Total public safety 805,370             769,801             767,169             2,632                   

Public works:
Department of public works 309,519             238,724             218,831             19,893                 
Marina 75,000               75,000               75,000               -                       
Brownfield redevelopment 124,500             121,449             89,565               31,884                 

 
Total public works 509,019             435,173             383,396             51,777                 
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - General Fund (Continued)
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

EXPENDITURES (Continued)
Community and economic development:

Planning and zoning 263,560$          286,563$          291,372$          (4,809)$                
 

Recreation and culture - parks and recreation 154,898             147,934             134,446             13,488                 

Capital outlay 131,453             275,032             272,748             2,284                   
 

Total expenditures 2,691,305         2,769,612         2,689,678         79,934                 
 

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES 645,718             666,553             866,554             200,001               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 4,500                 4,500                 4,500                 -                       
Transfers out (812,797)           (756,917)           (680,797)           76,120                 

Total other financing uses (808,297)           (752,417)           (676,297)           76,120                 

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (162,579)           (85,864)             190,257             276,121               

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 2,077,563         2,077,563         2,077,563         -                       

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 1,914,984$       1,991,699$       2,267,820$       276,121$             
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - Local Street Fund
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

REVENUES
State grants 90,330$             110,094$          117,405$          7,311$                 
Interest -                     -                     5,852                 5,852                   

Total revenues 90,330               110,094             123,257             13,163                 

EXPENDITURES
Public works 284,852             519,328             510,131             9,197                   

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (194,522)           (409,234)           (386,874)           22,360                 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 260,398             320,398             445,797             125,399               

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 65,876               (88,836)             58,923               147,759               

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 113,765             113,765             113,765             -                       

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 179,641$          24,929$             172,688$          147,759$             
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City of the Village of Douglas
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE CITY'S NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
Year ended June 30, 2023

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

Total pension liability:
Service cost 93,888$       100,529$    102,655$    90,568$       86,011$       95,463$       99,347$       97,912$       89,824$       
Interest 335,137       331,365       306,336       287,550       273,493       281,803       260,000       242,044       225,872       
Differences between expected and actual experience (24,748)       (177,322)     (22,535)       82,303         (31,671)       (335,248)     51,044         (55,441)       -                
Changes in assumptions -                186,612       119,962       141,406       -                -                -                158,592       -                
Benefit payments, including refunds (173,536)     (177,181)     (174,886)     (168,120)     (140,686)     (141,647)     (130,190)     (125,185)     (122,245)     

Net change in total pension liability 230,741       264,003       331,532       433,707       187,147       (99,629)       280,201       317,922       193,451       

Total pension liability, beginning of year 4,662,387   4,398,384   4,066,852   3,633,145   3,445,998   3,545,627   3,265,426   2,947,504   2,754,053   

Total pension liability, end of year 4,893,128$ 4,662,387$ 4,398,384$ 4,066,852$ 3,633,145$ 3,445,998$ 3,545,627$ 3,265,426$ 2,947,504$ 

Plan fiduciary net position:
Contributions - employer 139,315$    131,784$    88,722$       96,330$       125,508$    400,500$    332,655$    112,267$    109,204$    
Contributions - employee 4,711           4,200           4,336           4,138           5,912           7,122           7,538           7,093           7,240           
Net investment income (loss) (483,371)     581,455       475,846       455,292       (139,523)     412,837       284,499       (36,439)       143,484       
Benefit payments, including refunds (173,536)     (177,181)     (174,886)     (168,120)     (140,686)     (141,647)     (130,190)     (125,185)     (122,245)     
Administrative expenses (8,628)          (6,669)          (7,510)          (7,847)          (6,860)          (6,514)          (5,570)          (5,280)          (5,280)          

Net change in plan fiduciary net position (521,509)     533,589       386,508       379,793       (155,649)     672,298       488,932       (47,544)       132,403       

Plan fiduciary net position, beginning of year 4,651,884   4,118,295   3,731,787   3,351,994   3,507,643   2,835,345   2,346,413   2,393,957   2,261,554   

Plan fiduciary net position, end of year 4,130,375$ 4,651,884$ 4,118,295$ 3,731,787$ 3,351,994$ 3,507,643$ 2,835,345$ 2,346,413$ 2,393,957$ 

City's net pension (asset) liability, end of year 762,753$    10,503$       280,089$    335,065$    281,151$    (61,645)$     710,282$    919,013$    553,547$    

Plan fiduciary net position as a percent of total pension liability 84.41% 99.77% 93.63% 91.76% 92.26% 101.79% 79.97% 71.86% 81.22%

Covered payroll 830,422$    948,054$    945,471$    813,602$    762,993$    884,507$    883,260$    906,913$    853,200$    

City's net pension (asset) liability as a percentage of
covered payroll 91.85% 1.11% 29.62% 41.18% 36.85% -6.97% 80.42% 101.33% 64.88%

Note: This schedule is being built prospectively after the implementation of GASB 68 in fiscal year 2015. Ultimately, ten years of data will be presented.
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City of the Village of Douglas
SCHEDULE OF CITY PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
Last Ten Fiscal Years Ended June 30

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Actuarially determined contributions 136,788$   137,680$   108,241$   87,938$      108,041$   139,563$   132,427$   119,838$   110,541$   115,686$   

Contributions in relation to the actuarially
determined contributions 136,788     137,680      108,241      87,938        108,041      139,563      395,427      323,088      110,541      115,686      

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$           -$            -$            -$            -$            -$            (263,000)$  (203,250)$  -$            -$            

Covered payroll 830,422$   948,054$   945,471$   813,602$   762,993$   884,507$   883,260$   903,709$   862,446$   870,552$   

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 16.47% 14.52% 11.45% 10.81% 14.16% 15.78% 44.77% 35.75% 12.82% 13.29%

Actuarial valuation information relative to the determination of contributions:

Valuation date Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31 each year, which is 18 months
prior to the beginning of the fiscal year in which the contributions are required.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry-age normal cost

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, open

Remaining amortization period 16 years

Asset valuation method 5-year smoothed fair value

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.75% 

Investment rate of return 7.00%, net of investment and administrative expenses, including inflation

Retirement age Normal retirement age is 60 years

Mortality 50% Female/50% Male blend of the Pub-2010 fully generational mortality table with scale MP-2019
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City of the Village of Douglas
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET - nonmajor governmental funds
June 30, 2023

Water
Major Schultz Park and Sewer
Streets Launch Ramp Revolving Totals

ASSETS
Cash 256,422$          123,917$          132,955$          513,294$          
Receivables 31,442               -                     53,120               84,562               
Prepaids 819                    -                     -                     819                    

Total assets 288,683$          123,917$          186,075$          598,675$          

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities - payables 77,259$             44$                    69,824$             147,127$          

Fund balances:
Nonspendable - prepaids 819                    -                     -                     819                    
Restricted for capital improvements -                     -                     116,251             116,251             
Restricted for public works 210,605             -                     -                     210,605             
Committed for recreation and culture -                     123,873             -                     123,873             

 Total fund balances 211,424             123,873             116,251             451,548             

Total liabilities and fund balances 288,683$          123,917$          186,075$          598,675$          

-42-

59

Item 8A.



City of the Village of Douglas
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN
FUND BALANCES - nonmajor governmental funds
Year ended June 30, 2023

Water
Major Schultz Park and Sewer
Streets Launch Ramp Revolving Totals

REVENUES
Federal grant -$                   -$                   72,932$             72,932$             
State grants 251,962             -                     -                     251,962             
Charges for services -                     32,787               58,048               90,835               
Interest 5,686                 2,699                 2,038                 10,423               

Total revenues 257,648             35,486               133,018             426,152             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public works 295,816             -                     100,037             395,853             
Recreation and culture -                     8,857                 -                     8,857                 
Capital outlay -                     -                     78,242               78,242               

Total expenditures 295,816             8,857                 178,279             482,952             

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER EXPENDITURES (38,168)             26,629               (45,261)             (56,800)             

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 110,000             -                     125,000             235,000             
Transfers out -                     (4,500)                -                     (4,500)                

Total other financing
sources (uses) 110,000             (4,500)                125,000             230,500             

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 71,832               22,129               79,739               173,700             

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 139,592             101,744             36,512               277,848             

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 211,424$          123,873$          116,251$          451,548$          
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - Downtown Development Authority
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

REVENUES
Property taxes 39,188$             40,424$             40,424$             -$                   
Interest -                     -                     2,235                 2,235                 
Other - donations -                     9,000                 9,000                 -                     

Total revenues 39,188               49,424               51,659               2,235                 

EXPENDITURES
Community and economic development 33,600               47,451               39,545               7,906                 
Capital contribution to City -                     34,000               -                     34,000               

Total expenditures 33,600               81,451               39,545               41,906               

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 5,588                 (32,027)             12,114               44,141               

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 83,140               83,140               83,140               -                     

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 88,728$             51,113$             95,254$             44,141$             
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - Kalamazoo Lake Harbor Authority
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 14,000$             2,240$               -$                   (2,240)$             
Interest -                     -                     113                    113                    

Total revenues 14,000               2,240                 113                    (2,127)                

EXPENDITURES
Public works 15,000               1,392                 1,276                 116                    

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES (1,000)                848                    (1,163)                (2,011)                

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 5,308                 5,308                 5,308                 -                     

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 4,308$               6,156$               4,145$               (2,011)$             
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City of the Village of Douglas
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - Brownfield Redevelopment Authority
Year ended June 30, 2023

Variance with
final budget

Original Final positive
budget budget Actual (negative)

REVENUES
Federal grants 25,000$             -$                   -$                   -$                   
Intergovernmental 75,000               75,000               75,000               -                     
Interest -                     -                     617                    617                    

Total revenues 100,000             75,000               75,617               617                    

EXPENDITURES
Public works 83,000               50,916               49,571               1,345                 

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 17,000               24,084               26,046               1,962                 

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 8,825                 8,825                 8,825                 -                     

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 25,825$             32,909$             34,871$             1,962$               
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MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Lisa Nocerini, City Manager 

FROM: Matt Smith, Treasurer 

DATE: November 27, 2023 

SUBJECT: Water Rate implementation 

 
As required by the Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy (EGLE), the City submitted a 
water system capital improvement plan (CIP).  The CIP outlines the City’s methodology to maintain the 
underground water system infrastructure.  Underground water infrastructure items include water mains, valves, 
hydrants, etc.   
 
The City worked with Prein & Newhof and Baker Tilly in the development of this plan.  Prein and Newhof 
developed the water infrastructure CIP by reviewing water asset age, condition, material size, break history, and 
other factors.  With that review completed, a list of capital improvement priorities and target completion dates 
were developed. A key component of a properly developed CIP is a funding source to accomplish the objectives 
of the plan. Using the capital improvement list, Baker Tilly has developed a funding methodology to finance the 
capital improvements.  
 
Based on Baker Tilly’s funding methodology I recommend Council approves resolution 35-2023 to implement a 
capital charge on the January water billing. 
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RESOLUTION NO. 35-2023 

CITY OF THE VILLAGE OF DOUGLAS 
ALLEGAN COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

 
 

RESOLUTION FOR IMPLEMENTAION OF WATER CAPITAL 
IMPROVEMENT CHARGE 

 
  
WHEREAS, The Michigan Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy(EGLE) 
required the City to submit a water system capital improvement plan (CIP).  
 
 WHEREAS, The City worked with Prein & Newhof and Baker Tilly in the development of 
this plan.  Prein and Newhof developed the water infrastructure CIP by reviewing water 
asset age, condition, material size, break history, and other factors.  With that review 
completed, a list of capital improvement priorities and target completion dates were 
developed.  
 
WHEREAS, A key component of a properly developed CIP is a funding source to 
accomplish the objectives of the plan. Using the capital improvement list, Baker Tilly has 
developed a funding methodology to finance the capital improvements.  
  
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City of the Village of Douglas City 
Council based upon the CIP developed and submitted to EGLE is implementing a water 
capital improvement charge of $15 per MEU per month effective January 1, 2024.  
  
 
Members Present:  
Members Absent:  
  
It was moved by Councilmember , and supported by Councilmember , to adopt the 
resolution.  
  
Members Voting Yes:   
Members Voting No:    
Members Abstain:       
Members Absent:         
  
 
RESOLUTION DECLARED ADOPTED    ______________________________   

Cathy North, Mayor 
City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan  
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CERTIFICATION  
  
The foregoing is a true and complete copy of a Resolution adopted by the City Council of 
the City of the Village of Douglas, County of Allegan, State of Michigan, at a regular meeting 
of the City Council held on the 4th day of December, 2023, and public notice of said 
Meeting was given pursuant to and in accordance with the requirements of Act No. 267 of 
the Public Acts of 1976, as amended, the same being the Open Meetings Act, and the 
Minutes of said meeting have been or will be made available as required by said Act.  
  
The Resolution was declared adopted by the Mayor and has been duly recorded in the 
Resolution Book of the City of the Village of Douglas.  
 
 
  

________________________________________ 
           Laura Kasper, Clerk 

City of the Village of Douglas, Michigan 
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MEMORANDUM 
 

TO: Lisa Nocerini, City Manager 

FROM: Matt Smith, Treasurer 

DATE: November 27, 2023 

SUBJECT: De minimis benefits policy 

 
Internal controls and policies are an important part of any government’s operations. They are used to 
establish safeguards to minimize the opportunities to commit fraud, improve accuracy of financial 
reporting, and ensure compliance with laws, grants, and regulations. 
 
When spending taxpayer dollars, it is extra important to ensure those dollars are spent in ways allowed 
by the Michigan constitution, State laws, and regulations.  The de minimis benefits policy being 
presented tonight helps ensure that the City is in compliance with the requirements of the State. 
 
I recommend that the City Council approves the attached de minimis benefits policy. 
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City of the Village of Douglas 

De Minimis Benefits Policy 

 

 

Purpose: 

 

To set forth the official policy of the City of the Village of Douglas (“the City”) 

regarding the processes related to providing occasional minor benefits to employees.   

 

1. Policy statement 

 

1.1. The City recognizes the importance of offering de minimis benefits to employees 

to create a positive, rewarding work environment, and retain employees. All 

employees shall be eligible to receive de minimis benefits from the City. 

 

2. Value and frequency 

 

2.1. De minimis benefits provided to employees shall not have a value exceeding $200 

annually and be provided infrequently. 

 

3. Types of de minimis benefits 

 

Examples include but are not limited to: 

 

3.1. Retirement gifts 

 

3.2. Employee recognition gifts 

 

3.3. Occasional meals and snacks 

 

3.4. Occasional team building activities 

 

4. Approval 

 

4.1. All de minimis benefits should be supported with receipts and included in the 

standard accounts payable process with approval by City Council.   
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